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STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 

The state accepts appellant's factual recital as a general 

statement of the case and facts which will be supplemented 

herein, where appropriate, with additional facts and argument and 

subject to the following disputed facts. 

The wire coat hanger that was found among the items strewn 

about the area of the car (R 723-27, 736-40) was never shown to 

have any relevance to this case. There was a trail from the rear 

of the car to the dunes (R 708; State's Exhibit 5). Items were 

found thirty yards behind the vehicle buried in a small hole and 

covered with a piece of cloth with sand over it ( R  708). Among 

the items concealed was two clear plastic drinking tumblers, 

brown bag, half bottle of Smirnoff vodka, a wallet with driver's 

0 licenses and credit cars in the name of Richard Mallory, 

miscellaneous papers and Mallory's red car caddie (R 708). 

The bullets that were recovered were of the same caliber 

and model and make and manufacturer as the bullets that were 

found in Wuornos' discarded .22 in Rose Bay (R 847; 907). While 

the medical examiner could not determine the assailant's position 

when the shots were fired, or the sequence of shots, that is not 

to say that the jury could not make such determinations based on 

Wuornos' confession, trial testimony and forensic evidence 

concerning the number and type of bullet holes found in Mallory's 

shirt (R 9 2 1 - 9 3 2 ) .  Dr. Botting testified that it was debatable 

whether Richard Mallory would have been under the influence of 

alcohol at the time of his death. He could have been at the 

lower limits where influence would be recognized (R 876). 
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Tyria Moore worked quite a b i t .  She did hotel work and 

went to work on a daily basis when she could find employment and 

used her paychecks to support herself and Wuornos (R 936). 

Wuornos never told Moore that she had been beaten or raped during 

the time from when they met to Mallory's death (R 954). 

0 

Appellee takes issue with the statement that in trying to 

get Wuornas to confess "Moore exploited their p r i o r  relationship 

and the tremendous love Wuornos still harbored f o r  Moore. '' Such 

was not decided by Judge Graziano below and is an issue herein 

and belongs in the argument section. Wuornos was not exhorted to 

"take the entire blame f o r  the murders" but was asked to absolve 

an innocent party, Moore from blame, which Wuornos did (R 982-86; 

3057; 1831). 

Williams Rule evidence and how it relates to t h e  details of 

Wuornos' Mallory confession is fully discussed in Point 11. 

Contradictions in her trial testimony are also fully discussed. 

No purpose would be served by repeating it here. 

In the penalty phase defense experts testified that Wuornos 

knew the difference between right and wrong and the nature and 

consequences of her actions (R 3232-3443;  3465). A borderline 

personality disorder does not make one kill or render the person 

not legally responsible (R 3235; 3 3 7 4 ) .  Dr. Toomer felt she was 

capable of conforming her conduct to the requirements of the law 

( R  3 4 4 3 ) .  

Testimony concerning Wuornos' background is fully discussed 

in Point VI. 0 
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Point I: There was no discovery violation with regard to tie 

expected testimony of witness Jacqueline Davis therefore, no 

Richardson u. State, 246 S o .  26 771 (Fla. 1971), inquiry was 

required. Ms. Davis was made available to defense counsel during 

the trial and a proffer of her entire testimony was put into the 

record. Despite the fact that her testimony would have been 

clearly inadmissible the trial judge permitted defense counsel to 

call Ms. Davis as a witness. It was the choice of defense 

counsel not to call her. Alternatively, it can hardly be said 

that a Richardson inquiry was not had from the extensive argument 

entertained. The trial court indicated that it did not believe 

that defense counsel did not have this information. 

Nevertheless, the court took remedial action. After the defense 

chose not  to call Ms. Davis as a witness no further request for a 

Richardson hearing was made to challenge the decision not to use 

Ms. Davis or the inability to call any other witness, thereby 

waiving such discovery violation. An adequate Richardson hearing 

was held as to similar fact witnesses and the trial judge 

determined that they should not be excluded because the  state had 

provided notice of intent to use similar fact evidence at least 

five months before trial. Defense counsel actually was provided 

the reports of these officers even where they did not testify 

from them and was able to cross examine them extensively. 

Counsel was also provided with a synopsis of Wuornos' confession 

which Detective Horzepa had referred to while testifying and 

counsel was able to challenge and cross examine Detective Horzepa 

at great lengths. 

0 
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Point I1 : Wuornos was not denied a fair trial by the 

introduction of evidence of collateral crimes. Evidence of such 

crimes was before the jury by the cross examining of defense 

counsel and by Wuornos' own testimony on cross examination. In 

final argument, defense counsel stated that such evidence was 

admissible. This issue has been waived. In any event, the 

evidence was properly admitted to establish a pattern of conduct 

similar to the pattern of conduct in the crime. Similar 

incidents took place in the same type of isolated area, involved 

the same weapon, the same modus operandi, i.e., hitching a ride, 

soliciting an act of prostitution, driving to a secluded area, 

robbing, and ultimately shooting the victim several times in the 

to rso  and abandoning their vehicles in another location, the same 

type of victim, a middle aged man, and the same type of offense. 

Such evidence did not become a feature of the trial. Incidents 

that did not culminate in robberies and murders were relevant to 

show identity and modus operandi. No victim impact evidence was 

introduced at trial. The testimony was geared only to establish 

identity through the circumstances of the crime. If there was 

error, it was harmless, in view of Wuornos' own confession and 

the testimony of Tyria Moore and the medical examiner. 

Point 111: The trial court did not err in denying Wuornos' 

motion to suppress. Tyria Moore voluntarily chose to cooperate 

with law enforcement in their investigation. Her motivation was 

not only to prove her innocence but to avoid future harm to 

others. Prior to the taped telephone conversations Moore had 

made it clear to Wuornos that the relationship was over. Wuornos 
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was in control during the telephone conversations and tried to 

manipulate Moore into not testifying against her suggesting that 

it was a case of mistaken identity and that Moore could prove her 

whereabouts during the murders. She also asked her to forget 

things she had told her about murdering Richard Mallory. 

Wuornos' motivation in confessing was not to protect Tyria Moore. 

She had failed to manipulate Moore and chose to voluntarily 

implicate herself rather than having Moore do so. She also 

recognized that Moore was an innocent party. Although Wuornos 

had been arrested for another charge the Sixth Amendment right to 

counsel cannot be invoked once for all future prosecutions 

because the right does not attach until a prosecution has 

commenced. Wuornos was provided counsel and was advised not to 

speak to the authorities. Her subsequent confession was wholly 

voluntary. No delusion or confusion was visited upon Wuornos by 

her interrogators. Any stress was caused by the predicament in 

which she found herself and was not induced by extraneous 

pressures. Neither concern for a girlfriend nor the desire to 

clear an innocent party amounts to sufficient coercion to 

characterize the confession as involuntary. Nothing in the audio 

and video tapes in this case reflected that Wuornos' concern for 

Moore was so overpowering as to deprive her of rational thought. 

Point IV: The trial court did not abuse its discretion in 

declining to grant individual and sequestered voir dire as jurors 

were not tainted by the statements of other jurors and indicated 

that they could render a fair and impartial verdict putting aside 

everything they had heard about the case. All the jurors 

0 



sel ct d indicated hat t h e y  could lay aside their impressions or 

opinion and render a verdict based on the evidence presented in 

court. No showing was made that Wuornos was prejudiced to t h e  

extent that a fair trial was impossible so as to find error in 

failing to change venue. 

Point V: The trial court did n o t  give the pecuniary gain 

circumstance and the felony murder factor with robbery as the 

stated felony double consideration or weight in its sentencing 

order. The prospective Castro u. State, 597 So. 2d 259, 261 (Fla. 

1992), decision was no t  available at the time the jury was 

instructed. The jury was not tainted in any event as pecuniary 

gain is a constituent element of the aggravating factor that the 

murder occurred during the course of a robbery and separate 

consideration wouldn' t result in double weighing because 

pecuniary ga in  pravides only a motive far the robbery murder. 

The instructions on t h e  cold, calculated and premeditated factor 

are not unconstitutionally vague. Any error is harmless as the 

CCP factor was properly found. The prosecutor did not urge the 

jury to find the cold, calculated and prernedicated factor on the 

basis that premeditation had already been established by the 

verdict. The jury was properly instructed on t h i s  factor by the 

judge. The heinous, atrocious and cruel instruction given was 

approved by the United States Supreme Court in Proff i t t  u. Florida, 

428 U.S. 242 (1976). The prosecutor did not argue lack of 

remorse. The issue of a lack of conscience was brought up by 

mental health experts in regard to ruling out a diagnosis of an 

antisocial personality. The defense failed to contemporaneously 
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object in the penalty phase as to evidence about other crimes. 

Both the prosecutor and the sentencing judge properly advised the 

jury that their recommendation carried great weight. Defense 

counsel failed to contemporaneously object and request curative 

instructions regarding statements made by the prosecutor in 

c l o s i n g  argument and any right to complain thereof is waived. 

Knowing right from wrong i s  clearly relevant to the statutory 

mental health mitigators. 

Point VI : The sentencing court properly found that the crime 

was committed during the commission of a robbery. Her modus 

operandi was to pose as a damsel in distress and solicit a ride, 

then offer to have sex for money, and when in an isolated area 

for such purpose to rob the victims after first shooting them in 

facilitation thereof, and then ta finish them of f  so as to 

eliminate witnesses. By Wuornos' own words the murder was 

committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful 

arrest and to continue in her chosen career of prostitution. The 

murder was cold, calculated and premeditated. The evidence 

reflects that Wuornos carried a gun for the purpose of robbery. 

Even in the event that there had been a struggle with Mallory the 

evidence reflects that she coolly and deliberately finished him 

off with heightened premeditation. The murder was especially 

heinous, atrocious or cruel, Mallory was shot as he attempted to 

explain to Wuornos he had no intent to rape her, under her 

version. From that po in t  on the  victim felt a great fear  of 

impending death as he tried to escape and more shots were fired. 

As he lie dying he was taunted and then shot execution style. 

(I) 
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The trial court did not unjustifiably reject mitigating evidence. 

The sentencing judge found, in accordance with the testimony of 

the defense experts, that Wuornos had a borderline personality 

disorder. It was properly rejected as a statutory mitigating 

factor because the evidence reflected that the existence of such 

disorder did not cause Wuornos to rob and murder the victim. 

Point VII: The trial court properly denied the motion for 

judgment of acquittal. Premeditation was conclusively 

established. The state presented evidence inconsistent with 

Wuornos' theory that the victim was murdered during an argument. 

Such theory is also refuted by Wuornos' initial confession. Even 

accepting Wuornos' story of a struggle, premeditation is still 

established. After she shot Mallory as he sat behind the 

steering wheel she continued to coolly position herself in order 

to deliver mortal wounds to the victim f o r  t h e  explicit purpose 

of eliminating him as a witness. The circumstances of the murder 

reflect that a robbery of the victim occurred. He was found dead 

from gunshot wounds, the pockets of his pants were pulled inside 

out, and his wallet, personal belongings, and automobile had been 

removed from his person or the immediate area. The evidence 

reflects that the victim was required to die in order to 

facilitate the robbery and eliminate a witness. There is no 

evidence that the robbery was an afterthought of the murder. 

Point VIII: The claim that the Florida Capital Sentencing 

Statute is unconstitutional on its face and as applied is waived. 

@ 



I PPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED A FAIR TRIAL 
AND THE TRIAL COURT CONDUCTED AN 
ADEQUATE RICHARDSON HEARING. 

Prior to jury selection Mr. Nolas indicated to the judge 

that he had not been before him before and had some questions. 

Judge Blount responded that Mr. Nolas had four weeks to ask 

necessary questions instead of waiting for  the jury, 

nevertheless, he indicated that he would answer them. Judge 

Blount also noted that he had been appointed on the case three or 

f o u r  weeks ago before but defense counsel had not bothered to 

call him for hearing time or for a status conference. Defense 

counsel then recited that on Friday afternoon he had received the 

statement of Jacqueline Davis from the state. She was Richard 

Mallory's girlfriend ( R  12). The statement was taken on 

September 18, 1989 by Detective Horzepa. Defense counsel did not 

ask that the statement be excluded but indicated that it was 

critical to the defense ability to prepare in that Ms. Davis 

allegedly said in the statement that Mallory had a history of 

sexual abuse of women and had received experimental treatment. 

Mr. Nolas a lso  alleged that Ms. Davis described Mallory's 

violence toward women when drunk. Mr. Nolas claimed that "We had 

no idea. We asked about, we telephoned Jacqueline Davis. We 

tried to track her down. Nobody told us anything. It's been in 

the State's possession for a year. We need to get the 

psychological history because this guy did ten years for -- . I t  (R 

13-14). Mr. Nolas further argued that "This witness is c r i t i c a l  

to the defense. This guy raped women in the past. He acted with 

them in the same way as he did with Lee. 

@ 
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The state responded that it had assumed that all discovery 

had been completed. On Friday it was served with a motion to 

compel for the first time asking for t h e  statement of Jacqueline 

Davis. Mr. Damore indicated that on three occasions he verbally 

invited Ms. Jenkins to his office to review discovery materials. 

He also advised her by letter on June 7th. He stated that in 

response to the letter Ms. Jenkins contacted his office and 

scheduled a meeting for herself and Investigator Don Sanchez. 

Mr. Damore set aside a date to meet with them and go over 

discovery. On the day that they were supposed to arrive they did 

not. A t  10:30 they were notified by her office that she would 

have to reschedule. Mr. Damore stated that she never came to his 

office to go over the discovery materials. In Detective 

Horzepa's report is a reference that he spoke with Jacqueline 

Davis. Mr. Damore was not aware that the informal statement had 

been taken of Ms. Davis until he received the motion to compel 

from defense counsel ( R  16). He then contacted Detective Horzepa 

and was advised that there was a taped statement which had not 

been transcribed. He asked him to have it transcribed. He sent 

the transcript immediately upon being notified that they did not 

have it. The state argued that none of the information in the 

transcription would be admissible as it is strictly hearsay. The 

state disputed Mr. Nolas' recitation of the facts as represented 

by Ms. Davis. Ms. Davis said that Mr. Mallory was totally 

nonviolent in his sexual conduct toward women. She always 

initiated any sex between them. She knew him f o r  a year and a 

half. The incident that counsel was referring to occurred when 
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Mallory was eighteen years of age, a juvenile, and charged with 

some type of burglary offense. There is no record that 

substantiates that other than a hearsay statement of Ms. Davis 

since Ms. Davis received that information from Mr. Mallory (R 

17). Detective Harzepa's original report was furnished in 

discovery in January. The defense filed a motion to compel that 

led to this further discovery. Because they indicated that they 

did not have Ms. Davis' statement the Assistant State Attorney 

went back and read the report. There was nothing to indicate 

that there was a tape recording and the report indicated that he 

was interviewing Ms. Davis fo r  identification purpo8es, to see if 

she knew Mallo~y's whereabouts and if she knew of any property 

that may have been missing from his apartment (R 18). The report 

was provided to defense counsel at least ten months before. They 

waited until the day before trial to indicate that they did not 

have it, in spite of repeated requests to come into the state 

attorney's office and go over materials. Mr. Damore further 

indicated that thousands of documents were provided to defense 

counsel over the course of a year and he made sure that they had 

everything that he had. He also noted that many of the materials 

they complain of not having had been supplied to them in cases in 

which they represented Ms. Wuornos in Marion and C i t r u s  County ( R  

19). The court denied the motion to continue indicating that 

defense counsel would have ample opportunity to investigate. 

Judge Blount also indicated that he believed that Mr. Nolas knew 

all about it before he filed the motion (R 2 0 ) .  Later, the state 

indicated that this was the first request it had ever had by 
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defense counsel to locate Jacqueline Davis. Ms. Davis' name was 

provided to defense counsel in the initial answer to demand for 

discovery. The report or synopsis of the statements by Detective 

Horzepa was provided to defense counsel ten months before (R 

1387). The state further indicated that a taped statement was 

provided to the original defense attorneys in the case, Mr. Cass 

and Mr. Jacobson (R 1388). The state agreed to provide the 

defense with the address and phone number of Ms. Davis as was 

provided by Jeff Davis who had testified (R 1389). A proffer of 

Jacqueline Davis was then taken (R 2 0 7 9 ) .  She indicated that she 

recalled speaking to two detectives in reference to Mallory's 

disappearance (R 2081). They taped the interview. They 

discussed Mallory's history in Maryland (R 2081). Mr. Mallosy 

had said that when he was a young man he had been charged with 

burglary for entering someone's house. She was asked whether she 

recalled telling the detective that Mallory had told her that he 

had been incarcerated for some time in Maryland. She indicated 

that Mallory told her that he had been in a rehabilitative 

program. We had entered a lady's house who had been washing her 

hair and walked behind her and put his hand out in frant of her.  

He didn't touch her but she  screamed (R 2082). He told her about 

a rehabilitative or experimental program. It was a new program. 

They didn't discuss it more than that. She said that Mallory had 

also told her that he had a relationship with a woman which had 

ended. She was an ambassador's wife or something like that (R 

2083). They were divorced. Mallory told her that he thought he 

had seen this woman dancing in a topless bar. He said that he 
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went to nude bars as he had insomnia and it was something that 

would be available (R 2084). He also told her that he wanted to 

have plastic surgery to have his nose and the top of his ear 

fixed. He felt that he had a nose disfiguration. She indicated 

that she had talked to the detectives about Mallory's being 

apprehensive that people were following him or being paranoid (R 

2085). She further recalled talking to the detectives about what 

she perceived as the two personalities that Mallory had. One 

personality was very easy going but there was another personality 

in which he withdrew into himself (R 2086). She did not remember 

Mallory telling her that he had been in jail. He told her that 

he was in a rehabilitative program. It was for ten years (R 

2087). He indicated that it was as a result of the burglary. He 

told her that he went to court on it (R 2 0 8 8 ) .  She indicated 

that Mallory bathed everyday after work (R 2089). She was aware 

that he had pornographic tapes (R 2 0 9 0 ) .  She also indicated that 

he had lost his security clearance. She remembered discussing 

Mallory's drinking with Detective Horzepa. She also recalled 

discussing Mallory's smoking of marijuana. She sometimes 

wondered if when he smoked marijuana it made his personality 

change (R 2091). She recalled telling the detective that Mallary 

did not have male friends. She indicated that because of the 

fact that she had an accident a few years ago that sometimes 

there were memories that she did not have (R 2093). 

On cross examination she indicated that Mallory was a 

gentle, kind and caring person in their relationship. He was 

never sexually aggressive toward her or any female and that such 

- 1 3  - 



acts would be o u t  of his character. She never saw him so much as 

get a speeding ticket. She indicated that he was just a gentle, 

laid-back man (R 2094). The state objected to the defense 

presenting reputation evidence as to the violence of the victim 

since there was no evidence that Wuornos knew of such pr io r  acts 

of violence. Nevertheless, the court allowed the defense to c a l l  

Jacqueline Davis as a witness (R 2096). The defense chose not to 

call her. 

@ 

It is clear from the circumstances of this ca5e that 

defense counsel saught to not only require the state to do it3 

job f o r  it but also to lead the trial judge around by the nose. 

The real complaint before the court is that such endeavor was not 

successful. In Richardson o. State, 246 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1971), this 

court set forth a mandatory procedure to be followed by the trial 

court in the event of a discovery violation. In assessing the 

extent to which sanctions should be imposed f o r  violation of the 

discovery rules, the trial court must specifically determine 

whether, and to what degree, the violation has prejudiced the 

other party. State u. Hall, 509 So. 2d 193 (Fla. 1987). Although 

the court has broad discretion in making this determination, such 

discretion may only be exercised after the trial judge has made a 

formal inquiry -- commonly referred to as a Richardson hearing -- 
into all of the circumstances surrounding a party's noncompliance 

with the discovery rule. Lucas u. State, 376 So. 2d 1149 (Fla. 

1979). Where the trial court determines that no discovery 

violation has occurred, a Richardson hearing is not required. 

Mutheson u. State, 500 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 1987). In the record in 
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this case a reasonab1.e inference from the entire colloquy could 

be drawn that Judge Blaunt found that there was no discovery 

violation. Judge Blount indicated that he believed Mr. Nolas 

knew all about it before he filed the motion (R 2 0 ) .  The state 

indicated that it had given the tape to previous defense counsel. 

Mr. Nolas claimed that he was unable to contact Jacqueline Davis 

because he did not have her address. No mention was made t h a t  

information about the ta.pe was given to Mr. Nolas through 

Detective Horzepa. Yet, somehow Mr. Nolas knew about the tape 

and filed a motion to compel. It can only be assumed that he was 

in possession of such information from some source prior to 

requesting it, the probable source being the previous publ ic  

defenders. Jacqueline Davis' name was listed as a witness and 

Mr. Nolas could well have asked the state f o r  her address at any 

time prior to the hearing. Thus, it is clear that the 

information was readily available to the defense by the exercise 

of due diligence through deposition, subpoena or other means. 

The evidence was not even discoverable in the first instance. 

Evidence as to character alone may be introduced under 

appropriate circumstances to help show the actions or intentions 

of a victim with respect to the defendant. Such evidence may not 

be used to explain a defendant's action unless the proper 

foundation of prior knowledge has been established. Hodge u. 

State, 315 So. 2d 507 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975). The viciousness of the 

character of the deceased can only be shown where a plea of self- 

defense is interposed. Williams u. State, 238 So. 2d 137 (Fla. 1st 

DCA 1970). While evidence of specific prior acts of violence by 
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the decease( , known to the defendant at the time of the slaying, 
may be admissible on behalf of the defendant on the issue of 

self-defense to prove the reasonableness of the defendant's fear 

at the time of an alleged murder, evidence of such specific acts 

of violence is not  admissible to show proof of the deceased's 

violent and dangerous character. Proof of the deceased's violent 

character may be shown only by his general reputation in the 

community, i.e., what is reported or understood to be the 

community's estimate of the person's character. RoZEe 0. State, 314 

So. 2d 167 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975). Pursuant to Wuornos' own 

testimony she had only met Mallory by virtue of being picked up 

on the highway and therefore had no evidence of specific prior 

ac ts  of violence by him. The state has no duty to turn over 

inadmissible evidence. Such evidence would not even have led to 

discoverable evidence since documentation of such criminal 

history would have been no more admissible than the testimony 

sought to be introduced by Jacqueline Davis. Even though there 

was no discovery violation, the sage trial judge in this case 

wished to eliminate any possible controversy on appeal. Ms. 

Davis was made available to counsel. A proffer of her testimony 

was put on the record. The court then allowed the defense to 

call Jacqueline Davis as a witness even though the crux of her 

testimony would not be admissible (R 2096). It was the defense 

that chose not to call her as a witness. After such decision was 

made no objection was made fo r  the record as to the propriety of 

the law in regard to prior violent acts. No further request was 

made for  a Richardson hearing to apprise the trial judge that the 

0 
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defense viewed his remedial measures as inadequate. Such 

0 argument is now waived. Counsel chose only to inappropriately 

cast the occurrences below into a Richardson bouillabaisse. The 

defendant should hardly be heard to complain of the fact that she 

made a tactical decision not to call a witness who would have 

testified that despite evidence of one prior bad act as a youth 

that the deceased victim was a gentle, laid back man. There are 

no Richardson implications in this scenario. Even if there were, 

it is clear that Richardson was satisfied since the judge heard 

extensive argument and determined that remedial steps would 

eliminate any prejudice to the defendant. 

Reports or summaries made by agents of the prosecution 

condensing a witness testimony for use at t r i a l  is an example of 

work product to which the accused is not ordinarily entitled 

except as may be made available at trial for the purposes of 

effective cross examination within the scope of the right of 

confrontation. State u. Gillespie, 227 So. 26 550 (Fla. 1969). In 

the present case, defense counsel had access to the notes of 

Detective Horzepa and was able to cross examine him so that, 

again, there was no need f o r  a Richardson hearing to determine 

whether there was a discovery violation, whether it was willful, 

or whether it prejudiced the defense. As to the witnesses 

concerning the similar fact evidence, the court properly 

determined that notice of similar fact evidence was given some 

five months prior to the trial. Defense counsel agreed that the 

state indicated what Williams Rule evidence it intended to 

introduce, The state indicated that it had provided every 

0 
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document that it had in its possession ( R  1381-83). Counsel was 

provided reports nevertheless and cross examined the witnesses (R 

1324-25, 1365-66; 1604-5). Again, this is a bogus Richardson 

claim. See, Justus u. State, 438 So. 2d 358 (Fla. 1983). The 

discovery rule, in any event ,  does not  create a duty on the 

prosecutor's part to conduct investigations on the defendant's 

behalf or actively assist the defense in investigating the case. 

Hunsbrough u. State, 509 So. 2d 1081 (Fla. 1987). 
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I1 APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED A FAIR 
TRIAL BY THE INTRODUCTION OF EVIDENCE OF 

NOT BECOME A FEATURE OF THE TRIAL. 
COLLATERAL CRIMES,  WHICH EVIDENCE DID 

Appellee would submit that this issue is waived. While 

appellant originally sought to exclude evidence of collateral 

crimes her position thereafter was not consistent with such 

intent. On cross-examination of Tyria Moore the defense opened 

the door and brought out the fact that Wuornos and Moore had been 

driving another car and that Moore left when she saw composites of 

her and Wuornos on television in regard to a crime other than the 

Mallory case ( R  9 7 7 ) .  The defense also brought out the fact of 

movie deals based on Wuornos' life and actions (R 1008). Wuornos 

then took the stand in the defense case and explained 

inconsistencies by indicating that she was referring to murders 

ather than the murder of Richard Mallory ( R  1959-2065; 2061). In 

clasing argument defense counsel stated: "And when you consider 

that Mr. Spears, that Mr. Carskaddon and the other things that 

Mr. Tanner talked to you about, he suggested that I somehow 

argued that it wasn ' t admissible, of course, those items are admissible, 

you saw them, if they weren't admissible, they wouldn't be here." 

(R 2194). An adequate objection must be made at trial to such 

evidence. Correll u. State, 5 2 3  So. 2d 562, 566 (Fla. 1988) ; Crespo 

u. State, 379 So. 2d 191 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980). Appellant should not 

be heard to complain that such evidence was admitted and became a 

feature when she takes a position inconsistent with her 

objection, thereby waiving it and focuses the jury's attention on 

collateral matters herself. See, Sias u. State, 416 So. 2d 1213 

(Fla. 3rd DCA 1982). 
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Wuornos is entitled to no relief, even 

be entertained. Similar fac t  evidence of ot 

or acts is admissible when relevant to prove 

1981). These familiar categories stated as a basis 

admissibility of similar fact evidence are given by way 

example and not by way of limitation. Cotita u. State, 381 So. 

1146 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980). In a normal trial, evidence reveal 

if the claim could 

ier crimes, wrongs, 

a material fact in 

issue, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, 

plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident, b u t  

it is inadmissible when the evidence is relevant solely to prove 

bad character or propensity. $ 90.404 (2)(a), Fla. Stat. (1992). 

Evidence of other crimes is also admissible to prove common 

scheme or design. Walker u. State ,  403 So. 2d 1109 (Fla. 2d DCA 

of 

of 

2d 

ng 

other crimes is admissible if it casts light upon the character 

of acts under investigation by showing motive, intent, absence of 

mistake, common scheme, identity or system or general pattern of 

criminality so that evidence of such offenses has a relevant or 

material bearing on some essential aspect of the offense being 

tried. Sireci u. State, 399 So. 2d 964 (Fla. 1981) Similar fact 

evidence may be admitted to establish a pattern of conduct 

similar to the pattern of conduct in the crime. Jones u. State, 398 

So. 2d 987 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) While there must be more than a 

general likeness between the similar act and the crime charged to 

allow admissian of similar fact evidence, absolute factual 

identity is not required. Estano u. State ,  595 So. 2d 973 (Fla. 1st 

DCA 1992) The test f o r  admissibility of evidence of collateral 

crimes is relevance. Heiney u. State, 447 So. 2d 210 (Fla. 1984) 



As long as evidence of other crimes is relevant for any purpose, 

the fact that it is prejudicial does not  make it inadmissible. 

Sii-eci, supra. Evidence which has a reasonable tendency to 

establish the crime charged is not inadmissible because it points 

to another crime committed by the defendant. Yesbiclz u. State, 408 

So. 26 1083 (Fla. 1982). Similar fact evidence is generally 

admissible, even though it reveals the commission of another 

crime, as long as the evidence is relevant to a material fact in 

issue and is not admitted solely to show bad character or 

criminal propensity. Gore u. State, 599 So. 2d 978 (Fla. 1992) 

Evidence of collateral crimes is admissible if it is not intended 

solely to demonstrate criminal propensity and if the two crimes 

share some unique feature suggesting the same perpetrator. State 

u. Smith,  586 So. 2d 1237 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) 

0 

In the present case, the callateral crime evidence 

reflected that similar incidents took place in the same type of 

wooded or isolated areas; within the course of months of the 

murder in question; involved the same weapon, a .22 caliber 

revolver; the same modus operandi, i.e. hitching a ride, 

soliciting an act of prostitution, driving to a secluded axea, 

robbing, and ultimately shooting the victims several times in the 

torso and abandoning their vehicles in another location; the same 

type of victim, a middle-aged or aging man as opposed to a 

stronger younger male with family ties; same type of offense; and 

such evidence was clearly admissible as it relates to a material 

fact in issue in that it demonstrated Wuornos' motive, intent, 

and state of mind, and t h e  evidence was not geared toward 
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demonstrating her bad character. Cf., Randolph u. State, 463 So. 2d 

186 (Fla. 1984). 

A similar case is Gore u. State, 599 So. 2d 978 (Fla. 1992), 

in which this court held that the collateral crime in which the 

defendant had allegedly stabbed a female victim was sufficiently 

similar to the charged murder to be admissible to establish 

identity and intent as both victims were transported to the site 

of the attack in their cars and suffered trauma to the neck 

area, and the defendant stole both victims' jewelry, pawned it 

shortly afterwards, fled i n  their automobiles and represented 

that he had obtained the automobiles from a friend or relative, 

The collateral offenses in this case also prove a common scheme 

or design a$ evidenced by similarities in the crimes, the fact 

that they occurred in the central Florida area off of major 

thoroughfares, which for  a hitchhiking prostitutelrobberlrnurderer 

would be tantamount to a neighborhood, and the locker at the mini 

warehouse which provides a monetary theme for Wuornos' continuing 

actions as well as a repository f o r  undisposed of property. See, 

also, Buenoano u.  State, 527 So. 2 6  194, 197 (Fla. 1988). Evidence of 

subsequent robbery/murders would also be relevant to negate 

Wuornos' claim of self-defense. 

The collateral murders did not become a feature of the 

trial. Evidence elicited by the state was confined to 

establishing that such crimes occurred, that they were committed 

by Wuornos', and that they were relevant. The prosecution went 

to great pains no t  to make the collateral evidence a feature of 

the  trial. The videotape of her confession was condensed and 
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edited so as to exclude matters not concerning the Mallory case 

(I) (R 1871). 

The prosecutor's cross-examination of Wuornos' was hardly 

geared toward eliciting evidence of collateral crimes. Such 

matters were interjected into the proceeding by Wuornos herself 

in her answers to questions on cross-examination. When caught in 

a logical contradiction Wuornos would explain away 

inconsistencies by siphoning off the facts of this case to other 

murders and claiming hysteria and confusion. (R 2025-26; 2028-29; 

2034; 2040). 

The prosecutor did not "harp" on collateral murders during 

final summation. The prosecutor simply stated: 

Well, every case is different. But it's 
not unusual to have similar fact 
evidence in the case where there's 
evidence of other matters that are 
relevant and material brought up in the 
trial for the substantive offense . . . 
And so there's nothing extraordinarily 
unique about what ' s happened here in 
this courtroom. I think probably the 
most unique thing is the woman is the 
circumstance. That's probably the most 
unique twist of the whole case. Because 
this woman s e t  about a pattern of 
behavior that is unique. You were told 
by Mr. Miller t h a t  other juries in other 
cases would render verdicts on the other 
killings. And that's entirely true. 
You are not here to find her guilty or 
innocent with regard to the other 
killings. The only verdict that you are 
going to be asked to render would be 
that regarding Mr. Mallory. But at the 
same time it doesn't mean you should not 
fully face your responsibility ... (R 
2167) 

Then Mr. Miller said that all of these 
other cases had absolutely nothing to do 
with the murder of Richard Mallory. 
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a That's incredible. That's incredible  
under the law and under the facts and 
under the circumstances of his case, 
Similar fact evidence, that is evidence 
of other crimes, is relevant and 
material and properly and legally should 
be considered when ruled admissible by 
the Court in criminal cases and even in 
civil cases. The case involving Mr. 
Mallory is the case on trial. This is 
the only case in which you are to 
determine guilt or innocence. But with 
regard to the second victim, M r .  Spears, 
the third, Mr. Carskaddon, the fourth, 
Peter Siems, fifth, Troy Burress, Dick 
Humphreys, last Walter Antonio in their 
automobiles in the locations of where 
the bodies were found and where the cars 
were found is all relevant and material 
key issues in this case. The key 
issues, and an instruction was read to 
you, I know it was a while ago, you will 
hear, J think, the same or substantially 
the same instruction again before you go 
to the jury room, but basically 
indicates that similar fact evidence, 
that's evidence of other crimes, when 
it's relevant to prove identity, 
opportunity, preparation, plan, common 
scheme or plan, patterned incriminality, 
intent or motive. In this case, we 
submit the absence of self-defense is 
relevant, that's relevant. It's 
relevant to what she did to Mr. Mallory. 
(R 2169-270). 

Richard Mallory was killed in December, 
December 1st precisely, eleven miles 
from the downtown Daytona Beach area, 
He was fifty-one years old. David 
Spears, killed in June, a hundred and 
twelve miles. Charles Carskaddon in 
June, ninety-four miles from Daytona. 
Peter Siems reported missing in June, 
body never recovered, this is the one 
she said she left in Georgia. Troy 
Burress, sausage man, the way she 
identified him and by his vehicle, 
August 4, 1990, sixty-four miles from 
Daytona. Mr. Humphreys, he was the HRS 
man, September, 1990, sixty-eight miles. 
Walter Antonio, November, a hundred and 
forty-seven miles. What do these men 
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have in common? All of them were white 
males between the age of thirty-nine and 
sixty years old. They are all traveling 
major thoroughfares of Florida. They 
are all traveling alone. Each one of 
them made a fatal mistake. They picked 
up Aileen Wuornos. In each of those 
cases, she propositioned them f o r  sex 
and she  ultimately killed them all in 
isolated areas where there would be no 
witnesses. She s h o t  every one of them 
in the torso, a couple she also shot in 
the head, multiple gunshot wounds all 
from a .22 caliber hollow point. You 
heard the bullets described over and 
over again, virtually the same bullets, 
same pistol as admitted by her. 
Everyone of them's property was stolen 
and their vehicle was taken. And the 
vehicle was wiped clean in the case of 

Carskaddon's vehicle was stripped, it 
was on the side of the highway, before 
t h e  police were able to do much with it. 
Peter Siems, that was the one that 
turned over an the 4th July and both the 
women were i n  that car ,  both the women 
were riding around in that car, I say 
both women, Tyzia Moore and Ms. Wuornos. 
And that's the vehicle in which her, 
Aileen Wuornas' bloody handprint was 
found. The other three vehicles w e r e  
all wiped clean again. The license 
plate was removed on five of the seven 
vehicles. All the vehicles were left 
abandoned and they were left abandoned 
in a range of from twelve to a hundred 
seventy miles. And finally, the propery 
of three of the five men was found in 
Aileen's warehouse. This evidence 
demonstrates a patmrn and a method of 
criminality and intent and plan to carry 
out robberies and murder on the highways 
of the State of Florida by this woman. 
And she had picked a selected target- 
type of individual to kill. (R 2170- 
2173). 

Mr. Mallory, Mr. Spears. The -- Mr . 

The prosecutor's final summation as recited above reflects 

only the evidence admitted at trial necessary to show the 

commission of such  other offenses and its relevance to this case. 
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There was no undue emphasis of such evidence and the prosecutor, 

himself, even informed the jury that it was not  their jab to 0 
decide guilt or innocence in the collateral cases. The 

likelihood that the jury would give undue emphasis to such 

evidence was also diminished by an instruction by the court prior 

to the admission of such evidence: 

Ladies and Gentlemen of the jury, the 
evidence that you are about to receive 
concerning evidence of other crimes 
allegedly committed by the defendant 
will be considered by you for the 
limited purpose of proving motive, 
opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, 
knowledge, identity, the absence of 
mistake or accident on the part of the 
defendant and shall -- and you shall 
consider it only as it relates to these 
issues. However, the defendant is not 
on trial for a crime that is not 
included in the Indictment that has been 
read to you. ( R  1189). 

As much as possible the trial c o u r t  judiciously excluded 

from evidence photos which could be considered to be bordering on 

the gruesome or were unnecessary. The state was allowed to admit 

over objection four autopsy photos of Charles Richard Humphreys 

(R 1292-94). All of the autopsy photos of Humphreys were not 

offered into evidence. Dr. Janet Pillow carefully selected only 

those poloroids that would assist in making her testimony more 

meaningful to the jury ( R  1 2 8 6 ) .  The court noted that these 

photos were "cleaned up pictures. '' (R 1288) . Humphreys suffered 

gunshot wounds to his left chest, left back, right back, upper 

back of the right shoulder, left side of the back of the head, 
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1290-1292), The nature of such wounds and trajectory of the a 



bullet could be more fully comprehended by the jury by virtue of 

t h e  use of photos. One of the photos, Exhibit 52-4 was only a 

photograph of the short sleeved white shirt that Humphreys was 

wearing when he was delivered into the morgue ( R  1292). Another 

photograph, Exhibit 52-3 reflected only the back of t h e  left s ide  

of the head where the gunshot wound entered (R 1292). The 

remainder of the photos portrayed gunshot wounds to the far left 

side of the back and the right lower quadrant of the abdomen and 

the exit wound and the right wrist (R 1293). Such photos were 

clearly an aid to the jury in understanding the nature of 

Humphrey's wounds. The fact that the doctor would have been able 

to testify as to the injuries that were sustained by Mr. 

Humphreys without the use of the photographs was not ascertained 

by defense counsel until after the witness had fully testified 

and on cross examination (R 1309). Defense counsel simply failed 

to voir dire Dr. Pillow as t o  this fact prior to her testimony 

and use of the photographs. In comparison, counsel did choose to 

voir dire Dr. Pillow as to photographs of David Spears and when 

the doctor admitted that she could testify without photographs 

the court sustained the objection and did not allow such photos 

into evidence (R 1304-1305). Appellee would submit that this 

issue has been waived. 

@ 

Mr. Humphreys' briefcase was admitted as State's Exhibit 76 

over on-going objection by the defense as to similar fact 

evidence ( R  1445). This briefcase was found along with o t h e r  

items in Wuornos' locker at Jack's Mini Warehouse (R 1437; 1445). 

The briefcase was clearly relevant to establishing a pattern of 
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criminality whereby Wuornos posing as a damsel in distress 

accepted rides with men then robbed and killed them in secluded 

areas and confiscated their belongings to pawn or hold in her 

storage locker. 

Introduction into evidence by the state of a single 

photograph of Troy Burress' body as it was found hardly amounted 

to overkill in relation to the similar fact issue. Burress was 

found l y i n g  face down with his hands under his body covered with 

palm fronds (R 1350). This photo was hardly used to inflame the 

jury with evidence of Wuornos' other handiwork. When 

decomposition sets in a victim is already dead so t h e  jury could 

hardly have been inflamed by the fact that Burress was identified 

by dental records. Such evidence was admissible so as to 

establish t h e  identity of t h e  victim. 

Contrary to appellant's assertion pictures of David Spears' 

badly decomposed body were not  admitted into evidence. The 

photographs of x-rays of Spears' body that were t a k e n  in the 

morgue and demonstrated the location of the bullets were admitted 

into evidence without objection by counsel (R 1301-1302). The 

state attempted t o  introduce another group of photographs 

actually showing the body af the deceased (R 1302). Counsel 

objected to pictures of a decomposed skeletal body on the basis 

that the prejudice of the two photographs greatly outweighed 

their probative value and the doctor had the x-ray photographs 

from which she could testify ( R  1303). Defense counsel voir 

dired Dr. Pillow and established that she would be able to 

testify without the photographs. The court then sustained 
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counsel's objection and the photos were not admitted into 

evidence (R 1304-1305). It is highly unlikely that the jury 

would be prompted to pillory Wuornos on the basis of x-rays. 

In essence, what the appellant complains of is the fact 

that the state established the corpus delicti of the similar fact 

crimes. Had such evidence not been introduced the appellant 

would be before this court complaining of the lack of evidence of 

such crimes. The number of victims was within the control of 

Wuornos. The circumstances of each victim's death established a 

common scheme or pattern of criminality. 

Contrary to appellant's assertion, absolute factual 

identity is not required, as previously argued above. It is 

always possible to point to some dissimilarities. In this case, 

@ however, as in Gore, supra, the similarities are overwhelming. 

"These points of similarity 'pervade the compared factual 

situations' and when taken as a whole are 'so unusual as to point 

to the defendant. ' " Kight u. State, 512 So. 2d 922, 928 (Fla. 

1987)(quoting Drake II. State, 400  So. 2d 1217, 1219 (Fla. 1981). 

None of the murders occurred before the time that Wuornos came 

into possession of the .22 caliber revolver (R 1830). Each of 

the men that was murdered by Wuornos was a white male. Each 

victim was beyond an age that could be described as youthful (R 

1747). They were traveling alone on interstate highways. Each 

victim was picked up by Wuornos while hitchhiking, by her own 
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said s h e  always aimed for the torso (R 1739). The body of each 

victim was found in an isolated area (R 747; 1337; 1430; 1577). 

Personal identification and property was taken (R 1076; 1233; 

1338). They were killed with a . 22  caliber revolver (R 1300; 

1477; 1656-1657). It was loaded with - 2 2  caliber bullets which 

were recovered from each victim's body with the exception of Mr. 

Siems  ( R  865-867). Wuornos admitted to using the 3ame gun and 

the same bullets to murder Siems. All of the bullets were 

Stinger brand, CCI manufacturer, with a six right hand twist, . 2 2  

caliber hollow point, jacketed (R 910-912; 1368-1375; 1376; 1550; 

1563). The bullets were of the same type of caliber and model 

and make and manufacturer as was the weapon recovered in Rose Bay 

(R 909-910; 914; 918). The weapon found in Rose Bay was loaded 

with similar type ammunition (R 847; 907). In each case the car 

was taken (R 1330). The victims were discovered in 1.ocations 

different from where their vehicles were ultimately found (R 701; 

717; 1196; 1203; 1337; 1338; 1424; 1455; 1457; 1493; 1576; 1581). 

All their personal property had been removed from t h e  cars (R 

733; 818; 1080; 1347; 1352; 1580; 1671). Their pockets had been 

ransacked (R 773; 1248). The cars had been wiped clean of prints 

by Wuornos (R 1080). What is established by these similarities 

is a pattern. It is a signature that establishes the motive and 

intent of Wuornos to rob each of her victims. Many of these 

victims were shot in the back or the head, which exhibits a fact 

pattern that Wuornos was not acting in self defense on any of 

t h e s e  occasions (R 1291; 1393; 1577; 1593). During the course of 

Wuornos' confession she described numerous articles that she 
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